DATE:
TIME:
PLACE:
PRESENT:

ALSO PRESENT:

HOOVER CITY COUNCIL
MINUTES OF MEETING

Monday, March 6, 2017

6:00 P.M.

Hoover Municipal Center

Mayor Frank V. Brocato

Mr. Gene Smith, Council President

Mr. John Greene, Council President Pro-Tempore
Mr. John Lyda, Council Member

Dr. Casey Middlebrooks, Council Member
Mr. Derrick Murphy, Council Member
Mr. Curt Posey, Council Member

Mr. Mike Shaw, Council Member

Mr. Phillip D. Corley, Jr., City Attorney

Ms. April Danielson, Wallace, Jordan, Ratliff & Brandt, LLC
Mr. Bob House, House Consultants

Ms. Amanda Borden, Library Director

Mr. Tommy Daniel, Director, Public Works

Chief Nick Derzis, Police Chief

Ms. Susan Fuqua, Director, Municipal Court

Mr. Mike Lewis, Director, Human Resources

Mr. Rod Long, City Engineer

Mr. Frank Lopez, Director, Revenue and Taxation

Dr. Melinda Lopez, Chief Financial & Information Officer
Mr. Craig Moss, Director, Parks and Recreation

Mr. Mike Ogles, Director, Technology

Mr. Ben Powell, Director, Purchasing

Mr. Allan Rice, City Administrator

Mr. Tim Westhoven, Chief Operations Officer

Chief Chuck Wingate, Fire Chief

Mr. Jim Wyatt, Director, Inspection Services

The meeting was called to order by Council President Gene Smith.

The clerk had roll call and a quorum was present. Mr. Smith asked for the Clerk to give the
invocation and also asked for a few moments of silence to recognize former Hoover Mayor John
Hodnett who passed away recently. Mr. Smith stated that Mayor Hodnett was very instrumental
in Hoover being more than just a dot on the map. Mayor Hodnett deserves credit for bringing
Riverchase into Hoover which, in turn, also played a key part in bringing the Galleria in.

A moment of silence was observed in honor of Mayor Hodnett and the clerk then gave the

invocation.

Cub Scout Pack 93 representing Green Valley Baptist Church led the Pledge of Allegiance.



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 2

1.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Mr. Smith stated each member of the Council had previously received a copy of the minutes
of the February 13, 2017 special meeting, the February 20, 2017 regular meeting, and the
March 2, 2017 work session.

Mr. Lyda made a motion that the minutes be approved as presented and to dispense with the
reading. This motion was seconded by Mr. Greene. Mr. Smith called for discussion. There
being none, on voice vote the motion carried unanimously.

REPORTS

Mr. Smith recognized Dr. Kathy Murphy, Hoover Schools Superintendent. Dr. Murphy
first thanked the Mayor for visiting the schools and sharing time with the students. She
expressed her appreciation for his leadership and participation in the school community. She
encouraged everyone who lives in Jefferson County to vote for the school tax renewal
Tuesday, March 7" Three taxes renewals will be on the ballot and there will be no new
taxes on the ballot. She explained the three tax renewals and said that altogether these taxes
represent over $21 million to the Hoover school district. She said these funds are critical for
the needs of Hoover students and she asked that everyone in Jefferson County please vote for
the continuation of the taxes in support of Hoover schools.

Mr. Smith said he thought a vote of the Council in support of the renewal of the taxes was in
order. Mr. Murphy made a motion for support of the Jefferson County school tax renewals.
This motion was seconded by Mr. Lyda. On voice vote the motion carried unanimously.

The City Attorney read a Proclamation declaring the week of March 5-11, 2017 as Women
in Construction Week in the City of Hoover. Mayor Brocato presented the framed
proclamation to Rebecca Tweedy, Virnetta Woodbury, Rachel Brown and Gloria Cook.

Mr. Tim Alexander came forward to speak regarding UAB football. He said he had the
opportunity to meet with Mayor Brocato and they had talked about some updates and he
wanted to discuss those tonight. He said the Blazers will be ready to take the field on
September 2, 2017 and the great city of Hoover got behind them and allowed them to make
that happen. Mr. Alexander said that what he loves about Coach Clark and UAB and the
Superintendent is that they are all about the youth of tomorrow. Mr. Alexander stated that
Coach Clark came up with the Academic All-Stars section at Legion Field this year and at
the new stadium in the future to honor the young people within the City for their academic
success. They had asked Hoover to help with that and honor students because of their
grades. He said with Hoover’s help UAB can continue to be great. Mr. Smith thanked Mr.
Alexander and said to forward any requests to the Mayor’s office for consideration.

Councilman Murphy stated that Hoover is very unique being in two different counties both
Shelby and Jefferson and in three different judicial jurisdictions; Shelby County, Jefferson
County-Birmingham Division, and Jefferson County-Bessemer Division. Mr. Murphy said
the district attorneys from all three jurisdictions were present and he asked them to come
forward at this time to be recognized. He expressed appreciation to each of them for the vital
role they play in Hoover. He introduced Ms. Lynneice Olive Washington, District
Attorney, Bessemer Division, Jefferson County, who was accompanied by her Chief
Assistant, Valerie Hicks Powe; Mr. Danny Carr, District Attorney, Birmingham



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 3

Division, Jefferson County; and Ms. Jill Lee, District Attorney, Shelby County. Each of
them spoke briefly and stated how proud they were to serve the community.

Mr. Smith asked Mr. Monty Jones, General Manager, Sports Facilities Management
(SFM), to come forward to present information regarding the plan for food and beverage
services for the Hoover Metropolitan Complex. Mr. Jones introduced Mr. Cameron Moss as
the Director of Business Development and Events. He presented a handout and explained
that SFM was tasked by the City, pursuant to their contract in Section 9.2, to execute an RFP
for concessions and catering at the Hoover Metropolitan Complex. The RFP was created and
respondents were given the opportunity to submit their proposal to provide services for the
Met, the Finley Center and the outdoor fields upon their completion. The RFP was sent out
on February 3™, the pre-submittal meeting was held February 8", and the sealed progosals
were submitted February 28" with recommendation to the City Council on March 6. Mr.
Jones stated the RFP was sent to 14 different companies; five who are local to the
Birmingham region and nine national companies. The list of companies was created based
on contacts and information they gathered through research. The pre-bid meeting was held
on February 8" and eight companies were present. Three bids were submitted. He believed
they only received three bids due to limited sales data to provide to the applicants. The bids
were reviewed and they had subsequent follow-up interviews with the three respondents and
also checked their references. A financial comparison was done to determine the best
financial outcome for the City of Hoover based on the information submitted within the
proposals. Within the proposals there is an anticipated financial performance that is based
upon the early stages of the Hoover Metropolitan Complex that consists of a rough estimate
of $650,000 in revenue; $500,000 was based upon the net sales and concessions and
$150,000 was based on net sales and catering. Based upon the percentages submitted the
proposals Turner Food Systems would yield $151,250.00 due to the City of Hoover, Five
Star Event Catering a total of $72,500.00, and Event Concessions a total of $167,500.00.
They also did a comparison based on the maturity stage of the facility with an anticipated
financial performance of 1.5 million. The 1.5 million dollars of net catering and concession
sales consisted of $1,000,000.00 in concession net sales and $500,000.00 in net catering
sales. Based on the percentages, the amount due to the City of Hoover from Turner Food
Systems was $312,500.00, Five Star Event Catering $235,000.00, and Event Concessions
$445,000.00.

Mr. Jones then described their grading system for the submittals with points given for
qualifications, experience, management approach and strategies for operational effectiveness,
philosophies and technique for customer effectiveness, compliance with the RFP guidelines
and cost benefit analysis. After applying the grading system to the three submittals they
came up with Five Star Event Catering at 80 points, Event Concessions at 81 points, and
Turner Food Systems at 84.5 points. Mr. Jones stated that based upon all the information and
instruction given by Council pursuant to their contract in Section 9.2, it is their
recommendation and plan to begin contractual discussions with Turner Food Systems.

Mr. Lyda said that while they do have a very thorough grading process the consumer in a
park does not really care about management philosophy or experience. They care about the
quality and price of the food and he did not hear about either of those two things in the
evaluation. He said that when he is at a park he cares about speed of service, hospitality,



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 4

price and quality. He asked Mr. Jones how they evaluated those items. Mr. Jones replied
that all applicants that submitted bids provided references and for each applicant they were
able to talk to at least one reference about catering as well as talking to at least one about
concessions. Evaluating those aspects was also a part of the approach for meeting financial
and service goals and was a portion of the grading process as well. Mr. Lyda asked if they
received all favorable responses from the references. Mr. Jones stated that for all references
for all different groups they had great reviews from everyone and there were no bad
references for catering and/or concessions for any of the three applicants. Mr. Lyda
commented that the City of Birmingham has a significant void in banquet facilities since the
Cahaba Grand has been converted to a Church of the Highlands facility. He believes this to
be a significant revenue item for the City and for SFM and asked if Turner is capable of
hosting an 800 person dinner such as the recent Heart Ball. Mr. Jones spoke about Turner’s
experience at the Crampton Bowl in Montgomery and stated he believed the largest event
they had catered was for Mercedes Benz in Montgomery with 600 people. Mr. Smith asked
if Turner offers this type service on their menu and Mr. Jones replied that Turner does offer
catering services on a regular basis.

Mr. Lyda asked Mr. Jones if he is familiar with a document signed by former Mayor Gary
Ivey which was a response to a proposal for the City of Hoover to host the SEC baseball
tournament. Mr. Jones replied yes. Mr. Lyda stated that the document says the City gives
the rights for SEC concessions to Hoover’s current caterer and asked Mr. Jones if he is
familiar with that clause in the document. Mr. Jones said the city attorney or Allan Rice may
want to speak to those details. Mr. Allan Rice came forward to address the Council and said
the document was provided to them through SFM. He reviewed the document and it appears
to be a response to the RFP from the Southeastern Conference about the next contract for the
tournament. Mr. Rice said the response was not prepared by the City. It was prepared by the
Alabama Sports Council {ASC) who is actually the party that contracts to the conference at
the tournament. He said there was a signature line for the former Mayor and it was signed.
Mr. Rice did not recall the specific wording but said the document has a clause that states the
ASC may retain food and beverage rights. He said there are two questions. First, is this a
contract; what is the nature of this agreement? Second, who has the right to assign those
rights? Mr. Rice stated he forwarded the document to the city attorney and the response he
received was that it is not a contract. It is a response to an RFP and the Mayor’s signature
was not binding because it was not authorized by the previous Council at the time. Mr. Rice
said that is the feedback he provided to SFM.

Mr. Lyda said he understands that clause from the proposal was transferred to the contract
that is now in negotiation between the Alabama Sports Council and the Southeastern
Conference. He asked Mr. Rice about any concerns he may have that we have presented
ourselves as an agent willing to host this tournament with that same clause and now we are
perhaps going to suggest we are changing the rules this late in the game. Mr. Lyda stated
that this is a relationship we place a great deal of value on and we are going to have this SEC
tournament for three to five years and now we are going to bait and switch. Mr. Rice said
any legal concerns would be for our legal counsel; and as far as a business relationship, he
does not know that there is going to be any negative reaction from the conference. Mr. Lyda
stated that in essence either the City or the SEC has presented a contract that is waiting to be



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 5

signed by both parties indicating that the current provider gets the SEC. He said he is
concerned now that we have to go back to the SEC and say that even though we negotiated in
good faith a contract that hasn’t been signed yet we want to change the terms. Mr. Rice said
it is important to know that we have negotiated nothing with the conference. All of that
discussion is between the Alabama Sports Council and the SEC, and any such assertions
have not been made by the City. He said they have seen various drafts of that agreement but
have not seen any final draft. There has been nothing presented for us or for Council
consideration or the Mayor's signature.

Mr. Lyda said he is not in the concession or the catering business but he does know it is a
really simple formula between food costs, labor costs and cost to the consumer. He said that
we are putting an awful lot of weight on how much is due to the City. He asked how this
equates to the cost charged to the consumer at our parks. He said that to deliver the
$312,000.00 that is due to the City from Turner Food System they are required to make that
up somehow. Mr. Lyda asked Mr. Jones what due diligence they have done to ensure that we
have a fair price for our patrons. Mr. Jones said the companies supplied sample menus as
part of the interview process and part of the RFP responses. Of the sample menus, Turner
Food actually had the lowest actual cost for food of all three. Mr. Smith asked if the prices
were just an example. Mr. Jones said it was just an example but it is very similar based upon
their proposal and the actual needs. Consideration is given to whether it is for a local park &
recreation event or an event that has catering sales. Mr. Jones said they look at various
dynamics as far as their sample menu with the pricing, giving an example of a concert versus
a local event. Pricing is based on the dynamic of the attendees as well as the food and the
quality. He said the quality is the same, just different grades. All three companies said they
are using all beef and all of them stated pretty much the same thing as far as using quality
products. He said that pricing depends upon looking at the different dynamics based upon
attendance and the event itself. He stated the facility has digital menu boards and they are
able to change the concessions based upon a need basis.

Mr. Murphy commented the Council wants the facility to be a success but success is also
driven by the amount of money people are willing to pay and that is a balancing act. Mr.
Murphy said he understands pricing depends on a lot of factors. They just want the comfort
of knowing the consumers coming in will receive a quality food product that is affordable.

Mr. Smith asked if there is any chance of losing the SEC tournament if a different
concessionaire is brought in that is not of their choosing. The Mayor clarified that Mr. Smith
is asking that if we accept the recommendation of Mr. Jones is there a risk of losing the
baseball tournament. Mr. Smith said he doesn’t know if they have a choice regarding the
recommendation of SMF. They are just here to inform us. This is the decision of their
making and we have put the responsibility in their hands. Mr. Smith asked if there are any
documents that precede the vote to SFM that would negate their ability to choose for the SEC
tournament. Mr. Corley, City Attorney, said he is not familiar with such a document. He
stated he has seen the RFP that was discussed and he has reviewed the SFM contract. Mr.
Corley said they have not contacted anyone or been contacted regarding the current catering
choice. He said they do have the contract with the ASC that has been submitted with
comments but has not yet been submitted to Council for approval and at this time they have
not received a response back. Mr. Smith clarified that Hoover is in negotiations with the



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 6

ASC, not the SEC. Mr. Corley said that is correct. Mr. Rice said he had a phone
conversation today with the Associate Commissioner of the SEC which was just a general
update phone call about progress on construction and other details. Mr. Rice said that
gentleman is aware there is an RFP process but they had not had any detailed conversation
about their preferences. None of that has been discussed, but he is very much aware there is
an RFP process for food and beverage. Mr. Rice said they have had knowledge and an
opportunity to express any preference they might have but there has been no conversation of
that level of detail.

Mr. Shaw said he is significantly concerned about the quality of the food as he has heard
many complaints from people in Vestavia about their concessions. He said he hopes that
SFM is confident about their process because they are staking their reputation on the
reputation of Turner. He said there are many failure factors in these types of facilities and
food is one of the big ones.

Mr. Posey said he works in this industry with a smaller venue and his question is about the
ability of Turner to act as an agent to hire different catering companies. He said choice
becomes a concern with the big banquets when people want specific things. He also inquired
about the length of the contract with Turner. Mr. Jones said the language within the RFP is
for a max of three total years so it could essentially be two years with a one year renewal.
Regarding outside catering companies, Mr. Jones said that was part of the process at the pre-
bid meeting. They will be looking to carve out a portion for local caterers to be a part of the
process within the Hoover Metropolitan Complex. Mr. Smith asked who is responsible for
vetting the outsource. Mr. Jones said their staff would be vetting that process.

Mr. Lyda said he wished he had a better comfort level with the company. He said he is very
comfortable with the current provider but he is incredibly nervous for SFM. There is a lot at
stake and only one chance to make a first impression. If that fails there will be a big
explanation coming from SFM. He urged them to not get this one wrong. Mr. Jones thanked
him for his comments. Dr. Middlebrooks asked Mr. Jones how many years he had worked in
this industry. Mr. Jones said 16 years total. Dr. Middlebrooks thanked him for his response.

Mr. Smith asked if there were any other questions from the Council and there were none.
Mr. Smith said this is a report, not a vote, and any public comments can be taken at the end
of the meeting.

Mr. Smith asked Mr. Corley about rearranging the agenda items to consider adoption of the
budget ahead of some of the other items on the agenda as they are subject to funding from the
budget. Mr. Corley said that is at the discretion of the Chair. Mr. Smith said he would arrange
the items as necessary.

3. RESOLUTION NO. 5540-17 — BID NO. 17-001 Event Supply Rental

The City Attorney read Resolution No. 5540-17. This would accept the bid of Special
Occasions as the lowest responsible bidder.

Mr. Lyda made a motion to approve Resolution No. 5540-17. This motion was seconded by
Mr. Greene. Mr. Smith called for questions or comments from the Council or the audience.
There being none, on voice vote the motion carried unanimously.



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 7

4. 2"P READING ORDINANCE NO. 17-2321 - ANNEX 2313 TETON ROAD AND 2829
MONTE D’ESTE DRIVE

The City Attorney had the Second Reading of Ordinance No. 17-2321. This would annex
residential properties located at 2313 Teton Road and 2829 Monte D’Este Drive at the
request of the property owners.

Mr. Posey made a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 17-2321. This motion was seconded by
Mr. Greene. Mr. Smith called for questions or comments from the Council or the audience.
There being none, on roll call vote of the Council the votes were as follows: Mr. Greene,
“Yea”; Mr. Lyda, “Yea”; Dr. Middlebrooks, “Yea”; Mr. Murphy, “Yea”; Mr. Posey, “Yea”;
and Mr. Shaw, “Yea”; Mr. Smith, “Yea”. The motion passed unanimously.

6. PUBLIC HEARING - AMENDMENT TO BLACKRIDGE PUD TO ADD 108 ACRES
TOQ BE ZONED PR-1 - RICHARD JOHNSON, SB DEV CORP. APPLICANT - P.R.
WILBORN, LLC, OWNER — 2"° READING ORDINANCE NO. 16-2314 - (Continued

from 11/21/16 Meeting).
Mr. Smith stated the item had been withdrawn by the applicant.

7. RESOLUTION NO. 5544-17 - ADOPT BUDGET FYE 9/30/17

The City Attorney read Resolution No. 5544-17 to adopt the budget for fiscal year ending
September 30, 2017.

Mr. Lyda moved for approval of Resolution No. 5544-17 with the possibility of having an
amendment to that motion. Mr. Greene seconded the motion.

Mr. Rice stated that the Council had been presented with an updated version of the summary
budget this evening with some changes they are asking to be made to the Mayor’s proposal.
Mr. Rice reviewed those line items at this time. Mr. Smith inquired as to the ending balance
based on these adjustments. Dr. Lopez replied the general fund itself would stay the same.
As Mr. Rice mentioned it would be just the additional $100,000.00 added to that total. She
said that the total line on the page Mr. Rice referenced for special revenue funds is a
reduction of $420,000.00 overall. For the capital projects fund an additional $169,000.00 is
budgeted and the proprietary fund has an additional $21,000.00. Mr. Smith asked if there
were any questions from the Council.

Mr. Lyda said he wanted to thank Mr. Rice, Dr. Lopez and the Mayor and all the department
heads for their diligence and time in working through this process. He said there were two
days of budget hearings held in the chambers where they all heard from the department heads
on their budget requests. Staff took those and worked collectively to come up with the
budget proposal. Mr. Lyda asked about the process in working with the department heads
from the time they had budget hearings until the time the budget was proposed to the Council
two weeks ago. He wanted to know if the department heads had an opportunity to prioritize
those things that maybe did not make the cut. Mr. Rice explained the budget process that
started out with a series of internal budget meetings with department heads to present their
new requests. They did not ask them to go line by line and re-request every item they have
traditionally had. This was for new additions, new capital, new personnel, upgrades,
vehicles, etc. They took those requests and put them through the filter of the Mayor’s



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 8

priorities and available funds and then had the two days of hearings with department heads
presenting their requests directly to the Council. Everything the Council heard was
essentially what they had heard in the internal staff budget meetings. They continued to
work and revise over a period of several weeks. They wish they would have had a little bit
more time to go back and sit down with department heads. They did have the ability to do
some one on one isolated conversations on what was considered to be major expenditures.
That is something they have already set forth to do in the next cycle with a traditional twelve
month budget process. They did, however, during those initial budget meetings ask about
their priorities. In several cases, departments with multiple new requests were asked to
enumerate those down the margin and state, if they could only have one thing, what it would
be. That was in the initial budget meeting. The step they would like to do next time is go
back again to department heads to look at priorities again. There may be opportunities to
share among departments. They saw several related or redundant types of requests among
multiple departments and they may be able to bundle those kinds of things.

Mr. Lyda thanked Mr. Rice for the explanation. Mr. Lyda talked about overtime cuts that are
being made for the Police Department and Parks and Recreation and said these were
significant changes. Mr. Rice explained that he informed Dr. Lopez of the need to reduce
overtime by a certain amount and she then allocated that across the many different bureaus.
He explained that department heads retain the ability to, without staff approval or Council
approval, move some of that money around to cover their overtime needs. Mr. Rice
addressed the issue of SRO’s specifically and said there is absolutely no way they are
proposing to eliminate SRO protection at schools or at any events where the schools request
an SRO. He said if the SRO overtime budget winds up being spent at the 100% level of last
year, and that’s entirely possible, then that has to come from somewhere else but they are not
dictating to the Police Chief that he make any certain percentage cut in any particular bureau
of his operation. The concern overall is with the recording and tracking of overtime since a
tremendous amount was spent last year in the Police Department for overtime and he could
not say at this time if it was justified or not. He said that was not an allegation; they simply
do not have the tracking system in place that will tell how the overtime was spent; whether it
was for special events, the schools, investigations or natural disasters. Mr. Rice stated that
this is the Mayor’s budget proposal and he has said on many occasions that public safety will
not be compromised. He said there is a balance between not compromising public safety and
not opening coffers and failing to track where the money is spent. That is what they hope to
achieve through a management process for the remainder of this budget if it is approved and
then going forward with a full budget cycle. Mr. Posey said the city had been doing this a
long time and had a pretty good idea how much this was going to cost. Things done
routinely, like the SEC tournament, should be written in at a certain dollar amount and could
be called expected overtime and then there is the unexpected. He said if that could be done
moving forward that would be of huge benefit. Mr. Rice said that is exactly the plan. He
said they should be fairly precise with planned events and then be prepared to pull additional
funds if there are more unplanned events than in a typical year. Mr. Greene asked Mr. Rice
if he could reiterate that if the Chief needs overtime for the SRO’s or any other part of his
department; that will be handled. Mr. Rice said yes, based on proper management. He said
they just do not want to send a message that there are no process checks in place. It’s not an
open checkbook for any department in the City. It is a managed process. Mr. Rice stated



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 9

that the public safety needs of this City will be met and obviously the children in our school
system are a top priority; but we will meet the needs and be prudent in doing so. He believes
they need more detail to track what is going on to determine the amount of money that might
be needed in overtime. Mr. Greene said that was understandable and he appreciated the
Mayor’s efforts in controlling the budget.

Mr. Lyda asked Mr. Rice about a line item on page 18; social media consultants, The Lollar
Group. He asked for a brief description of who The Lollar Group is and what exactly a
social media consultant provides. Mr. Rice said The Lollar Group is a woman owned
Hoover based public relations consultant firm. They are lifetime Hoover residents and
graduates of the Hoover school system. He said they provide a tremendous array of different
public relations and media affairs management. Mr. Rice stated he has a scope of work from
them that can be made available for all the services they offer and with which they hope to
avail themselves. He said they are using them now and a tremendous amount of what they
are doing has to do with the City’s 50 Anniversary celebration. He said they are charged
with trying to establish a social media protocol and program for the City where there has not
been one and trying to economize the promotions and publicity budget that was approved by
the previous Council for SFM. He said they have gone back to visit the SFM pre-opening
budget and they’ve asked The Lollar Group to go in and find savings within the promotions
and PR section of that budget. An example is there was a line item for $20,000.00 for a
promotional video. He said The Lollar Group has already produced one promotional video
for the facility and their proposed package is 10 videos for approximately $5,000.00 so the
City will get ten times as much video time for a fourth of the cost. Mr. Lyda asked about the
bidding process when the City decided to bring on The Lollar Group. Mr. Rice said itis a
professional service and is exempt from the state bid law. He explained that The Lollar
Group was doing pro bono work for the City during the month of November. They had
already begun to assist our Events Coordinator with preparations for the 50" Anniversary
celebration with several requests for magazine ads and promotional things for the City and
they were doing those basically for free as citizens of Hoover. He said they were very happy
with their work but they did look around for other Hoover based public relations firms; and
that is a very short list, consisting of one. They asked them if they would be willing to enter
into, not a contract, but a month to month relationship based on their scope of work. They
could be tasked with anything under their purview and they would bill a flat rate. Mr. Lyda
asked what experience, prior to the pro bono work in November, did the City have with The
Lollar Group. Mr. Rice said he is not aware that the City had any experience with The Lollar
Group. Mr. Lyda asked if Mr. Rice or the Mayor had any experience with The Lollar Group.
Mr. Rice said he met the principles of The Lollar Group after he came back to work with the
City. Mr. Lyda asked about any experience with the Mayor prior to that. Mayor Brocato
addressed the question and said The Lollar Group was hired by him during his campaign and
he hired them for their professional services. He said they did an outstanding job and he was
pleased with their work. He said that after he became Mayor, Ms. Colbaugh had mentioned
she needed some work done in the design area. He mentioned to her about contacting The
Lollar Group to see if this is a group that could serve the City of Hoover and told her to make
her own judgement and determination about that and they really never talked anymore about
it. During that process Ms. Colbaugh and Mr. Rice decided to use them because they are a
Hoover business. Mr. Lyda then commented on a face book post on the Mayor’s page



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 10

earlier in the day and asked if The Lollar Group took care of that post for him. The Mayor
said they did and he stated to Mr. Lyda that the face book page is available to him as well. It
is not exclusive to the Mayor. It is a page to advertise our City. Mr. Lyda asked if our City
has a page that should be advertising those items. Mr. Rice said the City has a City Hall page
and this probably illustrates the entire reason for bringing somebody in. It took them about
five weeks to get access to the City Hall page because nobody here was an administrator and
nobody knew who the administrator was. It was actually The Lollar Group that got them
access to the page with Hoover’s name on it. Mr. Rice said they are working to try to rename
that page which is in the scope of work they are doing and they want them to pick that up and
maintain that for us as well. Mr. Rice explained that Hoover doesn’t currently have a staff
member for social media. A new hire, based on other similar skilled positions, would
probably be about paygrade 22 and that would start out at $60, 070.40 without benefits. Mr.
Rice said The Lollar Group is being paid less than that for all of their services. Mr. Lyda
said Congressman Palmer uses The Lollar Group and he funds their services through private
funds; not tax payer funds. Mr. Lyda urged caution and to be extremely careful there on how
we are spending tax payer dollars for the promotion of any one individual and not the City
itself. Mr. Rice said he is not aware that we are promoting any individual. Mr. Shaw said
that when there is no agreement, even though there is a scope of work, it allows questions
like this and he thinks if the agreement is up front that would help the situation. Mr. Rice
said he does not want to unfairly disparage this company in any way, but they wanted to give
them a trial period they can walk away from and that is what a month to month agreement
allows. Had the City not been happy they could have done something different and then
once they found a worthy group or a solution they could bring it to the Council. Mr. Rice
said the scope of work and current tasking list are available and open to whomever. Mr.
Posey noted that right now they are posting things seven different times in many cases. If
things can be posted one time on the City of Hoover page it can be copied and they don’t
have to worry about posting individual messages. He said that would be paramount for this
group to do and then the message is going out to everyone in one place. He said that during
the election they saw how powerful that can be; one collective lightning rod for all this
information. Mr. Posey stated he would like to see this done first and foremost and then
branch off into different subcategories. Mr. Rice said he agrees and his initial conversation
with The Lollar Group was based around the concept of social media strategy. Mr. Smith
asked how is it the members of the Council have not known this was out there. They could
have been sending information in that direction. Mr. Rice said it was not an agenda item
because it is not a contract. He explained they previously did not have a vehicle for the
Council to use; but they are almost ready now.

Mr. Posey then asked about the civic contributions listed in the budget. He questioned why
the Council would see where cuts had been made and later receive a document showing the
funding was put back in. He specifically mentioned the Fresh Water Land Trust. Mr. Rice
explained that they grouped the list of civic contributions based on similarly situated groups.
Upon review they thought it was out of balance with similar groups on the list so there was
an original reduction. Subsequent to submitting the budget to Council for consideration they
met with them and new information came out of that discussion; such as the potential for
Cahaba River Park and several things that are on the drawing board for them to take the



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 11

funds Hoover contributes and use them inside Hoover. After the meeting they decided to
restore the original amount. Mr. Posey asked if the plan is to make this a more
comprehensive process as previously discussed and also make this part of the budget
hearings so they will hear from these people as to what they do for Hoover. Mr. Rice said
they are absolutely committed to establishing a process; an application form, parameters such
as re-applying annually, looking for the nexus to the Hoover community, etc. As for the
specifics of hearing from them, that can be handled through an application form and/or give
them an opportunity to appear during city budget hearings. He said it would be a far better
process if they had an opportunity to tell their story. Mr. Smith asked about the Freshwater
Land Trust, what other things they can bring to the table. Mr. Rice said Hoover is a major
part of the watershed that they spend a lot of time and effort trying to protect. Their general
initiative is one that people in Hoover support and would like to see promoted. Mr. Smith
asked how they are different from the Cahaba River Society and Mr. Rice said he did not
know.

Mr. Greene asked Mr. Rice to discuss the comprehensive staffing review. Mr. Rice said in
the City’s history there have been periodic reviews by outside organizations to determine
compensation levels. He said it is a very detailed study of job duties and tasks by category
and they believe it is time to repeat that. He stated that at one moment in time Hoover had a
10 step pay plan; eventually that went to a 25 step plan and currently there is a 15 step plan.
There have been indications it is time to evaluate that, perhaps it is time to return to a 10 step
plan. He said they can only know that with certainly with this type of a study. He said they
also asked for a little bit of extra funds to perform a staffing level assessment to compare
how Hoover staffs certain functions comparative to other municipalities. It does not mean
Hoover wants to be the same as other cities but a benchmark is needed. If Hoover is going to
be above average they need to know what average is. Mr. Greene thanked him for his
response,

Mr. Lyda said there is a motion and second on the floor and he would like to amend his
motion to approve the budget but remove the civic contribution to Crime Stoppers for later
consideration under another motion and to also remove the Judge’s salary question to be
considered under a separate motion. Mr. Lyda then made a motion for approval of the
budget absent those two items. Mr. Shaw seconded the motion. Mr. Smith said that
procedurally there needed to be a motion to remove those and then vote the budget as
amended. The City Attorney agreed. Mr. Lyda then made a motion to remove the
judge’s salary and the contribution to Crime Stoppers from the budget proposal. This
motion was seconded by Mr. Shaw and Mr. Greene. Mr. Smith asked if there were any
questions or comments from the Council or the audience and there were none. On roll call
vote of the Council the votes were as follows: Mr. Greene, “Yea”; Mr. Lyda, “Yea”; Dr.
Middlebrooks, “Yea”; Mr. Murphy, “Yea”; Mr. Posey, “Yea”; and Mr. Shaw, “Yea”; Mr.
Smith, “Yea”. The motion passed unanimously. Mr. Smith stated the budget has been
amended and asked for any additional conversation regarding the budget as amended and
there was none. Mr. Lyda then made a motion to approve the budget as amended. Mr.
Greene seconded the motion. Mr. Smith asked for comments or questions from the Council
or the audience and there were none. On roll call vote of the Council the votes were as



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 12

8.

9.

10

11.

follows: Mr. Greene, “Yea”; Mr. Lyda, “Yea”; Dr. Middlebrooks, “Yea”; Mr. Murphy,
“Yea”; Mr. Posey, “Yea”; and Mr. Shaw, “Yea”; Mr. Smith, “Yea”. The motion passed
unanimously. Mr. Smith thanked the Mayor and staff, particularly Mr. Rice and Dr. Lopez
for their hard work. Mr. Rice said the lifting on this budget took place in Dr. Lopez’s
department under her leadership. (A copy of the budget with changes is attached to the
minutes of this meeting)

Mr. Lyda said he had two additional motions regarding the budget that he would like to have
considered. Mr. Smith asked the City Attorney about adding item numbers to attach to these.
Mr. Corley said that amending the agenda is at his discretion and at the approval of the
Council.

It was agreed by the Council to add the two new resolutions to the end of the agenda and
proceed with other items at this time.

RESOLUTION NO. 5541-17 — BID NO. 17-002 HOUSEHOLD HAZARDQUS WASTE

COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL

The City Attorney read Resclution No., 5541-17. This would accept the bid of MXI
Environmental Services LLC, as they are the low, responsible bidder. This would also
authorize the Mayor to execute a contract with them for the services to be performed.

Mr. Lyda made a motion to approve Resolution No. 5541-17. This motion was seconded by
Mr. Greene. Mr. Smith called for questions or comments from the Council or the audience.
There being none, on voice vote the motion carried unanimously.

RESOLUTION NO. 5542-17 - AUTHORIZE MAYOR TO EXECUTE GIS
SOFTWARE RENEWAL AGREEMENT WITH ESRI, INC.

The City Attorney read Resolution No. 5542-17. This would authorize the Mayor to execute
a renewal agreement in the amount of $50,000.00 with ESRI, Inc. regarding GIS software.

Mr. Lyda made a motion to approve Resolution No. 5542-17. This motion was seconded by
Mr. Greene. Mr. Smith called for questions or comments from the Council or the audience.
There being none, on voice vote the motion carried unanimously.

. RESOLUTION NO. 5543-17 - AUTHORIZE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AN ACCESS

EASEMENT AGREEMENT WITH RIVERCHASE COUNTRY CLUB

The City Attorney read Resolution No. 5543-17. This would authorize the Mayor to execute
a sanitary sewer access easement agreement with Riverchase Country Club for access to
sewer pump stations.

Mr. Lyda made a motion to approve Resolution No. 5543-17. This motion was seconded by
Mr. Greene. Mr. Smith called for questions or comments from the Council or the audience.
There being none, on voice vote the motion carried unanimously.

CONSIDER TWO NEW RESOLUTIONS (5545-17 AND 5546-17) ADDED TO
AGENDA AS PART OF ITEM #7 (Adoption of Budget)

Mr. Lyda stated he wanted to address the two items previously removed from the budget in
Item #7. First he wanted to continue the consideration for the civic contribution to Crime




Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 13

Stoppers until the next regularly scheduled meeting. Mr. Smith asked the Clerk to assign a
resolution number for the item. The clerk stated the resolution number would be 5545-17.
Mr. Lyda also wanted to bring an item up from the floor to consider increasing the Municipal
Court judge’s salary from $80,000.00 to $88,000.00. Mr. Shaw seconded the motion. Mr.
Smith called for discussion. Mr. Greene said he thought the Municipal Court Judge had done
a fantastic job and had been with the City for years. He noted he had never heard any
complaints and the judge runs a great court. Mr. Greene said his research shows that he is
currently the highest paid part-time municipal judge in the state of Alabama and for that
reason he doesn’t believe this is the best appropriation of tax payer dollars at this time. Mr.
Shaw said this came up during the budgeting process and they went over some of those
items. He felt that due to the time frame they did not have time to really go over the details.
He said they had looked at the judge’s salary and compared it with other cities of comparable
size and even smaller and those judges are at a higher pay grade. From what he could see our
judge works just as much, if not more, than the judges at other cities. He is not sure where
the concept of part-time and full-time comes into play. In looking at the hourly rate and the
hours the court has told us the judge works it comes to about $70.00 per hour, which is lower
than a fully vested department head. Mr. Shaw explained that based on available information
he thought it was appropriate to increase the judge’s salary based on the hours he works and
the time he’s been with the system, which is in excess of 15 years. He believes that adjusting
that is in accordance with what he does for the City, how highly he is regarded by the
community, and just the amount of work he does and this increase will put him in line with
our department heads.

Mr. Posey stated this is coming out of a special revenue fund per the original budget
document. He asked Mr. Rice to speak about that and also commented he would like for the
comprehensive staffing review to add appointed, elected officials so this is not something
that is overlooked for a long span of time. Mr. Rice said he would work with Mr. Lewis to
see if that can be put in as an element of the RFP for appointees and elected officials. Mr.
Rice explained there is 2 municipal court fund, predominantly funded by court fines and
court costs, that has to be supplemented to some extent with general fund money but the
overwhelming majority of municipal court costs are paid out of that special fund. Mr. Smith
asked if the increase would come out of the court fund or from supplemental money. Dr.
Lopez stated that in actuality the judge’s salary for FY 2017 did come out of the fund that
Mr. Rice just discussed; the one that is supplemented by the general fund. However, in this
budget process it was moved to a different special revenue fund, which is the Municipal
Court Judicial fund, a judicial administration fund, and that is not currently supplemented.
She said there are funds built up in that fund and then there is revenue that comes in each
year. Mr. Smith asked how long that fund could handle this increase without
supplementation. Dr. Lopez said they are projecting almost $200,000 in revenue this year,
there are some other items that are funded out of that fund but at the end of the year they
project a $400,000.00 fund balance. She explained they are using about $200,000.00 of what
was $600,000.00 at the beginning of the year. Mr. Murphy clarified that is salary alone; not
benefits such as health care. Dr. Lopez said the judge is not actually an employee so it shows
up on the operating line but it shows up as his salary alone. He receives no additional
benefits from the City. Mr. Smith asked Ms. Fuqua for information regarding the hours
worked by the judge. Ms. Fuqua stated they have court on Monday, Tuesday and



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 14

12.

Wednesday, not just court sessions, they also have compliance dockets, payment review
dockets, and a jail docket. She said they have those in between and may even have special
court sessions that may come in on a Thursday. The judge has to be there for any type of
search warrant for our police officers, he has to be called upon be it 2:00 a.m. or at any time
for him to be able to review and issue a search warrant. She stated that the Judicial Inquiry
Commission which oversees the judges for the state of Alabama has basically said the part-
time judge has the same responsibility as the full time judge no matter what. They have to do
the exact same thing whether they are full or part-time. But, as far as hours that he puts in,
probably the only day he is not there is Friday. Mr. Fuqua was not sure of the exact number
of hours but believes it to be pretty close to 25 or 26. She said it is significant. Mr. Smith
thanked her for her comments. Mr. Smith asked for any additional questions or comments
from the Council or the audience and there were none. Mr. Smith reviewed the procedures
for the item with the City Attorney and asked the Clerk to assign a resolution number to any
action taken.

Mr. Corley said the Crime Stoppers resolution number would be 5545-17 and the resolution
regarding the judges’ salary would be number 5546-17.

Mr. Smith then asked Mr. Lyda to restate his motion with the assigned resolution number.
Mr. Lyda made a motion to approve Resolution 5546-17 to increase the Municipal Court
judge’s salary from $80,000.00 to $88,000.00. Mr. Murphy seconded the motion. There
were no additional comments or questions from the Council or the audience. On roll call
vote of the Council the votes were as follows: Mr. Greene, “Nay”’; Mr. Lyda, “Yea”; Dr.
Middlebrooks, “Yea”; Mr. Murphy, “Yea”; Mr. Posey, “Yea”; and Mr. Shaw, “Yea”; Mr.
Smith, “Yea”. The motion passed.

Mr. Corley asked for a vote for the Crime Stoppers resolution. Mr. Lyda made a motion to
approve Resolution No. 5545-17 to continue consideration for the civic contribution to
Crime Stoppers to the next regularly scheduled meeting. Dr. Middlebrooks seconded the
motion. On voice vote the motion carried unanimously.

PAYMENT OF BILLS

Mr. Lyda stated he had reviewed the bills and made a motion that the bills be paid as
submitted. This motion was seconded by Mr. Shaw. On voice vote the motion carried
unanimously.

Mr. Smith called for additional comments or questions from the Council or the audience.

Mayor Brocato stated he appreciated the Council passing the budget and all the work that Dr.
Lopez and all of the staff put in and he committed to the Council to have a budget on time for FY
2018. He thanked the Council for their questions tonight and for all the transparency they have
committed to and all of the good work they have done as well.

Mayor Brocato shared with everyone the information for the kickoff to Hoover’s 50"
Anniversary celebration to be held at 10:00 a.m. on Tuesday, March 7" at the Hoover Randle
House. He said this will start the celebration and other things will be advertised and the public
made aware as they continue into that celebration.



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 15

Mayor Brocato congratulated the Hoover Bucs Girls Basketball Team for winning the 7A
State Championship.

Mr. Smith asked Dr. Lopez to explain an item in the capital projects; the finishing and
remodeling of the third floor as well as the Council chambers. He said at this time they do
not know when it will start but that during that time the Council will be unable to meet in the
chambers. He said that Councilman Murphy brought up at the beginning of this quadrennium
about moving the City Council meetings around to other parts of the city and that will be taking
place during the remodeling effort. Dr. Lopez explained there were several projects renovating
city hall and some at the public safety center and all of those are coming out of the special
revenue fund for the municipal capital projects improvement fund; also called the Alabama Trust
Fund. These are special revenue funds that can only be spent on municipal capital
improvements. As the funding source for these projects, $550,000 of that fund is for the Council
Chambers. There has been quite a bit of fund balance built up for that. Mr. Smith said he
wanted to be sure the citizens understood the Council was not spending a million and a half or so
on themselves in their first year using tax payer monies. These are appropriated funds that have
been gathered over a number of years.

Mr. David Pettitt, 3532 Teton Circle stated he would also like to go on record commending the
Spain Park Lady Jaguars for arriving at the state championship game along with the Bucs and
giving them a run for their money.

Brian Stewart, 542 South Sanders Road, said his comments are for SFM. He said that one
thing that was not mentioned earlier during the conversation about food and beverage at the
Hoover Metropolitan Complex was food allergies. He coaches tee ball and has nine kids on his
team, three have pretty significant food allergies. He said it is a big deal and something that
should be looked at. Mr. Monty Jones, SFM, said they are going to look at food allergies as well
as gluten free items for those with dietary needs.

Mr. Gene Hallman, Rosemont Place, Vestavia, Alabama, said he was representing Five Star
Event Catering. He said he was very disappointed by the decision tonight and said the process
that was undertaken fell well short of what you would expect of a city like Hoover. He
explained that Five Star has been the caterer of record for five or six years at the Hoover Met.
They consulted with the City on the kitchen facility for the new complex; all voluntarily to give
direction with no expectation of anything in return. Mr. Hallman said he also has a company,
Alabama Sports Council (ASC), which has the contract with the SEC. He said it is a 501 ¢3 with
a Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is a sports lobby for the City and the metropolitan
area. Amateur sporting events run through the Alabama Sports Council and for 19 years they
have been running the SEC Baseball tournament and have enjoyed a great partnership with the
City in that regard. Mr. Hallman explained that when the Barons left The Met the City did an
RFP for food and beverage and he had started a catering company at his for-profit company. The
Alabama Sports Council had the food and beverage rights to the contract and they bid on that
and their bid was accepted. He said they have been doing that since the Baron’s left. He

referred to the contract that says the ASC shall retain, operate and control all food and beverage
rights at the licensed property. Mr. Hallman said the City has had a copy of this contract since
September. They met with the City on January 10, 2017 and the City had no comments on that
section. The contract went back to the SEC and remained there until Friday when he received a



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 16

copy of it back to be signed. When this relationship came about originally between the Alabama
Sports Council, the City of Hoover and the SEC the City said they were not in the event
business. The Sports Council 501c3 told Hoover they would do that for them. He described the
three parties sitting around a table agreeing that the SEC would bring the show to town, pay for
the team’s lodging, food, expenses and television. Hoover would provide the facility and staff,
get the economic impact and exposure on national television, and get parking at the time.
Alabama Sports Council would provide up to a million dollar guarantee to the SEC for tickets.
They provide the staff and expertise and they get a percentage of the tickets up to a certain point
and also get food and beverage. That was just one of the points that were given to the Alabama
Sports Council. Mr. Hallman stated the RFP issued by SFM did not acknowledge the fact that
the Alabama Sports Council had food and beverage for the baseball tournament. He said they
met with Monty and Cameron for three hours on Friday negotiating in good faith how to split
that twenty percent. They agreed to give ten percent of their money back and in their proposal
gave twenty percent to the Alabama Sports Council per their agreement with them per their
ownership of food and beverage for the SEC baseball tournament. Mr. Hallman stated he does
not believe an apples-to-oranges comparison was done on pricing. The total going back to the
City is at twenty percent of the revenue from the SEC baseball tournament which is the biggest
catering/concession event of the year. They have that twenty percent going to the Alabama
Sports Council because that is per contract. The other two companies didn’t know that as part of
the Alabama Sports Council’s bid to keep the tournament here for five years they put together a
beautiful video that showed a sports bar. The commissioner actually gave them the ability to
serve beer in this complex because of competition with Memphis and Beale Street. So, ASC will
have to incur the expense of a sports bar in the Finley Center during the week of the baseball
tournament, which was another factor in their pricing that the other two companies had no
knowledge of. He also shared with Monty and Cameron that the SEC has final approval on
concession pricing. The other two companies do not know that either. So, they factored these
things into their financial package that the others did not. He requested that the Council ask
SFM to reconsider their recommendation and make sure that things are done on a true
comparative basis. He said it is complex but the paper trail is there and it works for all parties.
The ASC on average breaks even on the tournament but they rely greatly on that twenty percent
of food and beverage. He said the ASC will challenge this.

Mr. Smith asked for any questions from the Council. Mr. Posey asked about the ten percent to
Hoover and twenty percent to ASC. In looking at their general concessions he found it to be
quite a bit higher and he asked if that is to make up for that. Mr. Hallman said not really as they
felt that what they were offering the other 51 weeks of the year was competitive. He said that
Monty negotiated and did a good job of getting Hoover’s portion up to twenty percent and then
they came in third. He said the points were 84, 81 and 80 which seems close but the facts do not
add up. Mr. Smith asked the City Attorney if conversation of impending litigation would keep
the city from being able to talk about this. Mr. Corley said he had not heard that. Mr. Smith said
he thought he heard reference to possible litigation. Mr. Hallman said he did not use the word
litigation. They will challenge. They will want to discuss this because by contract they are to
receive all food and beverage rights and they have granted that to his company after a due
diligence process. Mr. Smith asked Mr. Rice if he had a copy of the document. Mr. Rice said
the document that was emailed to him from SFM with the proposal is a response to the RFP from
the SEC and it says ‘may’ not ‘shali’. He said they have not seen a final contract between the



Minutes of Meeting
Hoover City Council
March 6, 2017

Page 17

Alabama Sports Council and the SEC and they have not made any assertions to anybody about
food and beverage rights. Mr. Hallman said the document he is referring to, the RFP said ‘may’
which meant they may do it and they chose to do it. Mr. Rice said they do not have the final
contract. They have had several drafts of the contract going back and forth between two other
entities. Mr. Smith said the document that uses the word may is the one that Mayor Ivey signed
last year. Mr. Hallman said he doesn’t know if it says ‘may’, but if it does, then yes, that is what
he signed. Mr. Smith said he is trying to keep the process neutral. He stated there was
discussion earlier that verified that minutes had been searched and there was no record of the
Council giving authority to Mayor Ivey to sign that document. Mr. Hallman said the SEC and
the Alabama Sports Council would have no way of knowing that. The Mayor signed it, they
submitted their document, they got the contract back and the paragraph referred to has not been
touched. He said it is in the draft they just received on Friday and the City has reviewed that
contract thoroughly and did not request any changes to that paragraph. Mr. Smith clarified that
the contract had yet to be signed. Mr. Smith asked Mr. Jones to consider holding off perhaps 72
hours to give Mr. Hallman time to talk with the city’s legal counsel and the administration about
whether there are any true remaining issues. The Mayor said that is an SFM call. Mr. Smith
asked Mr. Hallman if he was saying that at this point Five Star doesn’t get the contract then the
tournament will not be held in Hoover. Mr. Hallman said he was not remotely suggesting that.
What he was saying is that paragraph will have to be adjusted in the final hours and it had been
left intact since September. Mr. Smith said that legal counsel should review documents to know
whether or not the terms are new or existed all along and the Alabama Sports Council can get
with the administration and the City’s legal counsel and then at the end of 72 hours, unless the
City is convinced otherwise, then we are not going to interfere with SFM’s contractual abilities.
Mr. Jones said they would allow the 72 hours to go through that process and by Friday of this
week they will look to move forward upon recommendation from Council and/or city staff. Mr.
Smith thanked him for his response.

Mr. Rice said he wanted to say on behalf of the Mayor that they want to figure out how this is
supposed to work with SFM. There was a work session held with the express purpose of
deciding what their role was to be and the vigorous dialogue has been confirmed in the minutes
of that work session. Mr. Rice said this is the second time they have had to pull the decision
back so they really need some clarification from the Council about who is going to make that
decision and they would appreciate that guidance. Mr. Smith said that this is a decision that once
it is finalized with legal staff it is going to be finished.

Mr. Arnold Singer, 613 Riverhaven Place, suggested that going forward SFM should make the
decision and this Council should request by vote that Five Star be selected as the vendor
servicing the SEC baseball tournament this year and for whatever years that are involved. Mr.
Smith said at this point we have nothing more than a legal determination and he thanked Mr.
Singer for his comments.

Mr. Smith asked if there were any additional comments or questions from the Council. There

being none, the meeting was adjourned.
4‘[&0&[&.&&{

argie Handley, City Clerk




FY 2017

MAYOR’S PROPOSED BUDGET

PRESENTED

March 6, 2017



1o0f15

Mayor’s Office
City of Hoover

Frank V. Brocato
Mayor

March 6, 2017

Hoover City Council
Hoover, Alabama

Dear Council Members:
| am pleased to present to you the FY 2017 Mayor’s Proposed Budget for the City of Hoover.

As you know from our budget hearings and various conversations over the past few months,
there were many items of consideration for this budget. | want to thank all of the departments for
their work in communicating their needs so that we can continue offering our citizenry the level
of service delivery they have come to expect. Even though all of these needs cannot be met,
this budget includes addressing many of those needs and priorities for me as your Mayor.

First, we undertook a conservative approach to revenue projections in budgeting $112.3 million
for the General Fund. This is an approximate $6.2 million increase over the FY 2016 original
budget approved last year.

Second, in terms of expenditures, the proposed budget includes an additional $3 million for our
contribution to the school system. Personne! expenditures increased approximately $3.5
million, including $2 million for health insurance increases, as well as $1 million for employee
step increases. We will continue to evaluate ways that we can contain personnel costs to slow
the growth for future years. Furthermore, | am proposing a net of $9.3 million in additional
capital projects and we have undertaken an approach to utilize the most restrictive fund
balances first, where applicable.

Finally, this budget included several new items related to the Finley Center and the Hoover
Metropolitan Complex, including over $4 million in new debt service requirements mostly related
to the $68,615,000 bond issuance. Also, in order to prepare for opening of the Finley Center in
May 2017, a $1.2 million pre-opening budget is included. For after opening, the Finley Center
budget also includes a net operating loss of just under $400,000. These costs are part of doing
business to open the center.

Finally, | would like to thank you for your time in facilitating this budget process.

Sincerely,

Frank V. Brocato
Mayor

100 Municipal Lane « Hoover, Alabama 35216-5503 » Telephone (205) 444-7510 « Fax (205) 444-7723




[Z) sedueya Punos 0gNg YO GILIOAY 1DONNOD L107 ANLTOZ A4 193pn g\ R IPE\IHIVIO\IS 2pNaY VA RPUHIN IV LS\ SouE] TPUfaL'D

{ooo0'0s) S 5 $ (ooo'or) $ (ooo'os) $ - $ saBuel JUIWpUIWE JoN
{ooo'ot) - {ooo'ot) - - INON 10°16'160-0606-E0E asn N0 J3jsuel) - puny |eI3UaT aouejeq
L
000’0t - - 000°0T 66-66"66E-0000-TOT (328n0s) uj J3j5ues) - puny |esaual acuejeg
{ooo'ot) 0 g > {000°0T) OT-BE TTH0EZ0-TOT asn siaddoisawnn asowsy g
{ooo'os) . - {000’08} e ST-0€°STH-0TOE-T22 asn os ol Aueessadpnfaanpay T
SIONVHD 035040Ud
vlol aNnd anNnd aNNd 3INNIA3Y aNNd 3002 HIGWNN SaNnd NOLLdIYDS3a
AUV1II8dOYd S173r0ud TI3ds TYHINID DAroud ANNOIDY 40 35N ¥o
WY (32unos)

ONILIFN NINNOD LT0T '8 YW
LI0T M
£102 ' HOYVIN NO Q3LN3SIHd 1390N1A 935040 S, W WOY4 SFONYHD NDNNOD - SIONVHI 139ana



sallueyd paunad HONY HYO LIDANE AIS0J0Yd L10Z AN TOZ A 1Spna\1alpng\Fuivio\alipng\lIviepuiani iy LS\sauwe] BpURWY D

{ooo'oEZ) $  000'TZ $  000's9T $ (ooo'ozy) § - S safiueyd Juawpuswe JaN

000°6T - 0C0'6T - - INON I0-E6°T67-0606-E0E sn N0 J3jsuel) - puny |esaual acuejeg
L

(000’61} - = - {000°61) 66-66'666-0000-10T  {3DUNOS) Uy Jajsued) - puny [esauad asuejeg

000'pT - . : ’ . 11e[5y1 uy wajsAs dujuuess

0o0'vT AOCIIALI L — Alunaas Apoq [§ny 8Y1 10) SIVELIIU[EL [BIULY

v - ; . |1ef ay) uy wajysAs uuueds
(eoo’yt) L ) 66-66'66E-0000-512 (33unos) AjlInaas Apoq ||nj ay) L0} 3UEUAU|EW [ENULY s

000'rT - - v . 11ef 3y u) wiRysAs Jujuuess

000wt I5AA08 0Z-€v'STr-0902-512 L Aunaas Apoq |ny 3y) 104 SIueuUILjew |BNUUY

¢ - . . . 66-82'STH-0T0E-022 Uhod jeduniu Joy Ysopy
e . oLl 66-rL STY-0T0E-0CL asn uawied dn yjem/dn 3ALP € JO UOIINIISUDI BADWISY s
000°0ST - 000°05T - - dWOJHH 0ZT-vE'9TH-0T90-E0E sn manal Jujyess aaisuayaidwo) ¢

ooo' i . qnp2 Aunod
r ooote WSS AL HiL SEYIDA| WIOJ JUDWIISED SSIIIE J13MBS BSBYIINg €

! ’ . 000°0z5
000 000'S LSRR A XA LS £ |B10} 01 35MU1 puB| JB1EMUS3IY O3 000S5S Y28q PPY t
{ooo’oz) - - {oco'oz) e ST-0E'STH-OT0E-122 3asn 000'085 01 yJeq Aejes 5,28pn[ adnpay T

SIONVHI G35040Hd
wiol annd anNnd aNNd 3NN3A3Y anNnd 300 H3dWNN sannd NOLLAYIS3Ia
AHVLIHdOYd SL03rgkd WIDAds IVUINID 133r¢yd LNROV 40 35N HO
VLdVD (328Nn0Ss)
ONILIIW UINNOD
LE0Z ‘9 Yyuew
LTOZ A4

LT02 *0Z A4YNUE3d NO Q11N3SINd 139004 O Ud S HOAVIN INOHS - SIONYHI 1390N8
1] B



SPUNJ J8MES U) SLIBY| SSUSGES JRIES SBAOWA) 2duelp 18N,

Slri

AUYVENITS LIDONS Q2804044 L102 AALIOL Ad

97S'08L'VOT §  LOSOEC'E § | 9ZR'E9TO6 $ EGI'9ELS § - $ | 610085'T0T $
e e T — e — = o ey
L6L'09T9ET § (OVY'TEBOL) § | £15°660'00T § VPZL'TEE'PT $ 000'00T'ZE § | LET'T6O'LYT §
TBUBYPIST  (896°BL6L) S29°'tza's0t PIS¥09'LT 000'000°ZE OST'LTY'65T
{see'zBr'st) lzev'zse'd) (ETT'ELL’s) {oos'TtL'?) 000°00% {ET6'vEE'ZT)
{DD0°216) e B {000°216) (000'L16)
{000'LT6) E S {000°L16) {000'216)
S0L'9PT S0£'9FT {9vS"PIFE) ET9'158°Z EE6'295 -
S0L'901 S0L'9rT - - - hd
{s15'992') - {9vs'riv'e) lazt {16L'158'7) {st5'99z'9}
515'39z'9 - 16£'158°2 PZLPIVE SIS'99Z'9
{060°LLb'vE)  leL1'650%) {£95°20¢8"9) {ET#'E9S'S) 190'v5Y (ET6'2THLT)
ZEQ'EPSIST  BLH'SSTRI £95'251'6 PST'6HETT EEG'SHE'TIT ¥aL'1BEEET
60¥'69Y'TT S0P'EIP°TT E s B 0
000'009'2 000°009°2 . -
000'000°'s - DO0'000'S 00t'000's
QLELET'PL PEY'ELE " 5 9TE'ETE'ET 9TGETEET
LE'MWE'ET 000’09 005'Z66°L 000’928 9LE'LTY 9L£'982'ET
vER'SSS'LE TBYESE'T £90°091°1 EF9'SSY'T THo'98L'1E TSE'Z09'VE
EFIbEE'LS £VS6rT - 119°258°S GEP'LZE'TY DOT'SBIL9
Zr5'090°LET 10£'960'ST 000'r¥8'T 1r2'5Z8'9 DO0'00E2TT 1¥8'696'T21
ESK'95Z . 2 ESK'962 ESk'96C
619°'vS2 000°0F 619012 619'P5T
99E'STL - e 89E'RTL B9E'STL
00T°002°T - e DoT'00Z't 001’0021
BLA'FZEST 10L'960'sT 000'525'Z LVEOL'T 1739 444
000°028°T e 000'510'T 000's28 000'048'T
¥59°'100°8 000'v¥A'T ra'sSIZ'E EI8'IFE'T ¥50'ID0'E
009'99%'8 - 009'99¢"8 009'99¥'8
DL8'EE6'96 s |- $ OLO'EEE'S6 $ | ODLB'EEE'9E §
SONN «SONM S19308d ANNIAIY aNng SONNY
™ AUYLIIHdON WLV WII3dS WHINGD 1A0D
WLoL WICL

3A0BY NMOHS 10N SHIADANHY) QILYWLLSTD

YVIA 40 ON3 ‘SIINVIVE ONN3

{20vWILS3] V3L 40 ONINNIDIE "2ONVTVE NN

SIINVIVE ONNZ NIFONVHD 1IN

SW3L VD345 ViOL
SIWNUGNAG
SINN3IAIY
SWALI VIS

15350N) S32UNOS ONIINVNLY YIHLO TVI0L
535N ONOA
50337044 ONOA
1NO SH34SNVHL
NI SH34SNVHL
ATNO ONNA TVHINID L3N SUIISNVHL
{535n) SIDUNOS SNIINVNLS HIHIO

SINLIONINA (H3ONN) H3AD
SINNIAIY JO (AINI31430) 5530X3

SIUNUONGDE TWI0L
SONN JAS TYNYILNI - SISN YIHLOD
NOLLYD 38430
NOUVINO3
3D1AY3S 1930
LD
ONLLYHIJO
13NNOSH3d
S$39NIAI

SINNIAIY TvLOL

H3IHLO
SINIWISENEWIIY 7 SNOLLNEILINGD
SIILIVAOH ONY SLN3H
FWOONI LNIWLSIAN
SFNAYIS HOL SIDYYHD
SLI3IYOI GNV SINL
TVINIWNHIADDHILNI
SUIWEId ONY SISNIIN
S3IXVL

SINNINGY

1390N19 Q35040Yd 5,HOAVW LI10Z A2
sannd TV - a—wwns
VINVEVTY ‘43A0 AL JHL

uyDy

W IEr L1020/



$ - H o $ > H 3 $ & s - $
I-
065'SE $ S 5 - > TOBEL S - $ wSOIZ S £9£'S0T°TE $  Q00'0OTZE S
065°SY S 189°EMO'T E tLe'6et TSL'09L'0E 000°000°ZE
(o00’01) o 3 {519'S0€} O 009'0L STO'SVE 000°001
- - - 5 - - - (000°£16} {000°L16)
- S B S S S (000°L15) {000°£T6)
S 19¥'558 S06°LL0°CT 0EL'ZTT'S SEYIT9T & GER'S18'T 000'S6 06L'599°9 Atez'ons'sz) EEG'T95
e . (r62°158'2) {reL'1587)
S ) = - - : . - PZLVIVE PZLVIVE
190'558 S06'TL0°2T OEL'LIT'S SH'ITIT GER'SIR'T 00086 06L'59%9 [oLt'ert's2) S
{ooo'o1) [LETR+] (so6'z20°'ZT)  {0EL'LIZ'S) (sy¥'729'7) {519'50¢) [(1:73¢:01] {oov'vel {062'596'9) T62'8va'6T £90°Sk
000°5¥ 190558 690°290°E1 DEL'LIT'S SPr'7I9T STT'6£9 658'69E'C 000'00F 064'58%9 ¥BY'EZ1°08 EEG'SYE'TTT
S 000'000°5 000°000'5
S - * - 9TE'ETE'EL 9LE'ETE'EL
o S FETELT 00006 TrL'bST s o * . S e’y
DOD'St SOE'TTS 2580’8 LL6'S9E'Y TELGRL'T 000°085 0S6°20€ 000°00¥ 8SLTEE'T ETO'ESEPT TY'IBLTE
- 951'brE EBO'ELL'D asL'19¢ TI6°LTL STT'es 688'990°2 - ZEO'PST'S SPE'ASPLY 6BY'LIE'TY
000'SE & ¥91'P10'T = DO5EEE 000055 009'5LE 000'0Z 9£2" 146601 000'00€°ZT1
= - - 000'vZ . . - ESKZLT E5¥'96L
6198 - 000'SK - 000'58 619WIZ
898'955 i 005'50T S 00095 B9E'ITL
o J . oot o 000°002°T ooT'002't
000°SE LIFUE 005'60€ 000'055 000°0Z 00002 000'96¢ LLVEDL'E
S S e 000541 e 000°059 000'5Z8
- S 000°0E EI8'TIE'T ETE'TVE'E
S - e 009'99v'e 009'99v's
- $ $ - $ $ s - DLS'EE6'S6 $ OLO'EE6'96 S
SNOZIHOH T CT $IANIS SIAYIS anNnd AUAILYY NOLWYIYIIY SAALLY aNnd [TTY] wioL
MIN NS DNKTTING 1404dNS 137 und 2 5NUvd Ayvean Advyan TVHINIS
051 ozt (341 fA4 11 {41 413 114 ort ToL

A0V NMOHS 10N SEIADABUVD QIALVINILSS

YV3A 30 QN3 "SIONVIVE QNN

{L¥NILS3] HYIA 30 DNINNIDIE "TONVIVE aNN

SIINVIVE ONNJ NI IONVHD L3N

SN2L TV¥D345 TVI0L
SIYNLIONIIXI
S3INKIATY
SWIL WID3dS

153571) $324NOS ONIIRVMIS YIHLO TVLOL
S35M aNoa
50333044 ANOE
1N0 SHIISNYHL
NI SHIISNVHL
ATND ONNA TVHINID L3N SHIISNVYL
[535n) SIDUNOS DNIONVNIA HIHLO

SIYNLANIIA (WIANN) YIAD
SINNIAIY 30 LAONINI30) 5533

SUNLIANIAE TVI0L
SONNA JAS TYNYILNG - S3SN H3IHLO
NOLLYID34d3a
NOWLYDNO3
301AH3S 1830
WLIVD
ONUYYIHO
TINNQSH3d
SIUNLIONIIE

SINNIATY TVIOL

H3IHLD
SINFWISHNBWIIY 2 SNOLLNGIHINGD
SILTYAOH ONV SEN3H
IWOINI INIWLSIAN
S3JINYIS 404 SITUVHD
SU34°0+ GNY SINK
IVANIWNYIADDHIINI
SLIWY3d aNY 535NN
S3xvL

SHNIAY

Sly v

139018 Q350404 S.HOAYIN LTOT Ad

SANNS TVEINTS - AHVWWNS

YIWVEYTY ‘YaAC

AL 3L




o, S OUET F ket KT T s W o“n * 5 H $ et SHoT vt - §  ETIZS
Y weYst  §  Tesy ficeor s SiME S (=5 mn wyoit s - - 1SGHTT W6 T 05 2l § TICEM §  tiTewl
T I T4 9L ] [ T WL LIver s THFSH . - [T i TR ] F T R T R 1 BT 1T
fooreat L6rr0E 000Dk Y eyl Isoswst) L ail [ 18 oaysT Y $000'54) 00T'US o5 ooo'ser) {rs'ml Lo g ]
. faex) . : - . e
. e s e oo'te - - et
0oTset vou toarror) o000 105N e [ ooer's) [T TS sl o0Tse 05" tooTsez) [0 ] lewes)
Sl Teve __ wmow  woeot  daer __ wat SR Wemt__owor  —  @rwow et oweewt - moooc _ cowwot  fryerst  veeemeet
ooosat . o0’ el . ooy - . ooty oo oY
. oy ooroe nets oOTIST 30 e oot ovIEs ooge . nr BTyl
5 . vorez [Tt ThiTET 4] . ot - : ooroog's wrErt 127104
OT00L IR e 0L ¥ [ w0 ) o] osIe o [ OO0 [ oyl
oor'oat (11} 4 . 5 Fi75 G S oS ooa'sg a05'L9 e J L{ 41141
4 - - - . - - - - - - .
100 TGO #00 TVHIaN | VRTEVIV [Ty S ) [ R 1T ] T WED | SRGIDPRGS | WLV WV Gvou TD o Visd ] Ty
n, TR oy TG v E T oo L0 THORW Y LI s oHN P ST 6l
] L n ot e o i a2 " o« ne B 1]




Shy—o

s H s S S76'906'89 $ SGEOSELT § 9Z8'C9296 §
$ - 5 - $ T80°196'89 S TEV'IETTE §  €15°66000T 5
- T80'L96 69 vrSSEROr 929°C20 60T
= = {evt'eze’s) {eTT'ces's)
E & & - 19rS P Iv'E) 9bSPI'E)
{orsviv'el {ors'vIr'e}
{£95'80E'9) {£95°g0E'a)
000'vbE'Z - - £95°BOE'9 £95°251°6
000°v¥8'Z . DOS'RPT'S 005'266°L
. - £90°091'T 190'091'T
000'vFE'T - - 000°V¥8'T
000'FFR'E 000'vF8'T
2 $ H S $ s - $
100 1A SdOL M= 910z S1310Ud IVLOL
ONIHAINIONT  DNIYIINIONI  DNIYIINION] man vUdvD
[ SLE us (1153 [T

3JA0BY NMOHS LON SH3A0AHYYD Q1AVINLISI

¥v3A 40 ONI "SIONVIVE ONNY

(3LYW1L53) BV3A 40 DNINNIDIE "TINVIVE ONNA

STINVIVE QNN NI IDNVHD 1IN

SWILTYID34S TVI0L
STUNLKNING
SINNIATY
SWAL VD34S

{$35N) S324NOS DNIDNYNH ¥IHLO TWIO0L
518N ONOA
§033704d ONOA
N0 SY34SNVEL
NI SHIJSNVHL
AINO QNMd WHINID 1IN SHIISNVHL
(S35N) SIOYNOS ONIDNYNIY YIHIO

SIUNUANIIXI (HIANN) Y3A0
SINNIAIY 40 {ANIIDII3A) S53053

SIUNLIGN3IAG TVLOL
SAMNS JAS TYNUALNI - S3SM HIHID
NOWVDIYdIa
NOUVINo3
3D1AY3S 1830
VLIV
ONLLYH3dO
TINNOSHId
SIUNLIONINA

SINNIATY TVLOL

HIHLD
SINIWISHNBWIZY '8 SNOLLNBIKINOD
SIUIVAOY ONV SLNTH
AWOINE LNIWLSIANI
SIHAYIS YOI SIOYVHD
SH3IJHOS ONY SN
IWINIWNYINODYILNI
SLIWY3d NV SASNIDN
sl

$SINNIATY

1390N4 Q3504044 SHOAYW L10Z Ad
SONNd THIT0Ed TVLEFS - AIYIWINNG

YIWYEVIY ‘43N0

U 3l




SPUR) JWSLWHO[RAIRAI PUE JIMIS ) SWY Fsuadya [endes saaowa) afueyd 13N,

- $ 0 S o 5 S $ H - $ - $ { wsesz’s § - S 000°2F $ 0S'Et'E $ | os'0fE ¢
B9B'PLET) $ (00000E) S EZvET S I09B081) S SIEPIL S | (ZLS9srEl S OZLTED) S | (ZSewIze) & OSCers S (0S6N S L0TSses) ¢ | (owp'TESDT) §
89T75r9E) S6£'862 FEY'LTL {eez'rie’n) 18Y'0EY fory'p19°L) fozL"teT) fozL'z8e"L) 05L'6¥9 {105’61} {0£6°210°8) (896'8L6°L)
{ore'oto'T) (562865} {r20'869) 269'C VEB'EST [zev'zve't) (2eT"2vE T} (zer'zve'l) {zev'zsnT)

E g - “SoLvT - S0L YT - S04°9v1 SOL'9PL
- . s0L'akt SDZ'avL - - S0L'9%T S0L°9bT
{ore‘oto't) (62865} {r20'869) T69'2 ¥EB'ESZ [LeR'BY0"T) {ze8'3b0'T) {¢eB'ar0'z) {£21'650'e}
0'L61°2T S6£'860'T 052'L88 0000001 S66'012'6 LER'ESE'S LER'BSE'S - - LEB'ES6'S 8£8'SST'8T
6OV'EIYTT €99'€95 [T 005°L66 966'020'6 = - . - - 60F6OF'TT
- - = o . 000°009°Z 000'009°Z o 000°009'2 000'009°7
5 e - - Pry'EZ6 S vhr'ETE LA Fh'ETE
- S H D . 00009 = 00009 000'09 000°09
TE9'LTL TE1'SES 0052 000061 0SR'S2T2 0S8'sTT'T = 0S8°STZ'T IBV'ESE'Z
- - S c EFS'6YT EVS'GPL - £VSEPT EVSGHL
TOL'9B1°TT 000°005 521661 £69'700°% DES'PEY'G 000'016'E & 000016E - - 000'016'E 104'560°5T
10£'98T'TT 000005 6L1°68T T69°200°T OE8'FEV'S 000°0T6'E - 000°0I6E 000’016 10£'960'ST
- H $ 5 - $ 5 $ $|- $ S s - $ |- s
wiolL ALTYNSYD 3 diNDD SNIHLIVIH SN HLIVaH wiol ONT wiclL aNnd aNnd ISHHYAINT SONMS
EH| ALHIdOHd - 451 SHINWOM-451  FIWUIAM-4S1  IAUIV-451 | LIVSSINISNE  dDI2AI0NY HIMIS BETOZMOD  VLDOZ MOD UINIS AUVIIINIOUd
588 0rs 9ts 14 095 + ¥IM3S [ o5 «E0§ o108 v

A0V NMOHS LON SHIACAYHYD QALVWLLSI

¥V3A 40 ONI 'TONINYYI GINIVLIY

fa0wmites) v 40 938 "SONINYYI QINIVIIY

SONINYYI JINIVIIH NI IDONVHD 1IN

SWAL W34S TVIO0L
SIYNLION3IT
SINNIAM
SWIL WD3dS

{535n) SIIYNOS ONONYNIY HIHLO T¥10L
S350 aNOd
50317084 ONOR
1IN0 SYIISNVHL
NI SY34SNVHL
AINOD ONNJ TWEINID 13N SUIISNVHL
{5350} S3IHNQS ONIZINYNIS HIHLO

SWNUANIANA (HIONN) HIAC
SINNIATY 40 {AONIDIH30) $5303Q

SIMNLKIN3AE WLOL
SANNS JAS TWNYILNI - 5350 YIHLO
NOUVD3H430
NOMNVING3S
3AN3S 1930
TYUIYD
DNLUVYIdO
TINNOSYI
5§35N343

S3NNIATH IVi0L

HIHLO
SLNIWISHNAWIZY F SNOLLNBIYINDGD
SALTYAOH ONV SIN3Y
JWOINI LNIWISIANI
SIDIAY3IS HO4 STDUVHD
SUFIH0D ANV 52N11
TYANINNYIAODHILNI
SLIWY3d ONV 535N3011
SIAVL

S3NNIAZY

Skt

1390N4 435040Ud S.HOAYW LT0Z Ad
SONNA TEVIETHIOV - AMVININS

YIWYIVTY ‘HIAC AL JHL




€ L16Z A Asewwins dyd3y NOSIYVAWOD 139008 LT0Z ANLTOT Ad - 128pna\vONNIWIL8pRE\IVARPUlaW\JdVLS\Sawel epunayD

: S s s 000°00% $ 000001 $  000°00T S 3juejeg pung uj 3dueyd
(s80'zg5) (0c0'e98) (coo'£16) {s80°64'T) {000'08'T) sajeqay/sway| je1dads
{L68'2L9'9T) {T25'69L°Y) ££6'295 {r96'vTIT'9T) {885‘902'Y) NP skajsueli

o - L - - uj sJajsuel)

000'VSP'T 000'000' {000'000'S) {000'9¥5'?) {o00'000'2) uojjeonp3
LST'PET'Y 9SZ'r62'Y (9z6'eTE’ET) {699'610'6) {0£9'6T0'6) a%A135 193q
SEE'69 (eot'se) (948'2£1Y) (TS 8YE) (626'v6b) |lendes
£18'912's £4£'980°1 {zv9'98L'TE) (6z8'690'9Z) {692'00£0€) Sunesadg
T¥9'sT9's EGE'LTS'E {e8r'£ZE'19) (8¥8'TTL'SS) {o60°018'2S) [auuoslad
590016 S  86E'BBI9 5 Q000'00EZTT 5  SEG'6BE'TIT $  ZO9'TTT'90T § anuaaay
WwNLOVY 13nang 13sang WNLV 139ang9
Q3LIanvNn TYNIDIHO 0350d0Yd aalianynn TYNISINO
9T0T Ad 910Z AJ S, HOAVIA 9T0Z Ad 910T Ad
oL oL LTOZ Ad
vHINIO
a3s0doyd 350d0ud aNn41vH3
SHOAVIA S,HOAYW
LT0Z M 2102 Ad
IDN3Y3IHIG EWVENERE!(1]
ATNO aNN4 Tv¥3INIO

Shi—d

NOSIHVdINGD 119001 G3asT *Nidd S, HOAYIN LTOZ Ad

Wd €™ 110Z/9/€



Shi—d

Mewurns LHO4IY S04 LTOL A d WALEOZ A3+ 1\ vaNMIv I 3pna\viepusa il L aviS\sauer epunam 'O
IPS'990°LET SZE'EOT'9ET 600905 TET TO9'SEY'OET |e101 puess)
TOL'960'ST 666'306'ET TL6'sLL'ZT S20'6TY'ET 12304 ANN4 AYV13IHdOYd - 005
o] LES'SY 9/B'T8T LEG'EDT ANNIAIH HAHLO - 8E
- 997'900'T ET6°LLT $£6'029 SINIWISHNBWIIY B I9INOD - LE
g - & . SILIVAOH B SLNIY - 9E
- 599y T4 /1) Z09'sE IWNOINI INFWLLSIANI - SE
10£'960°ST OVO'E6E’CT 850°99T°ZT SIS'BIVZT SAINAHIS YO SIOYYHD - ¥E
. 5 g . SIUNLFIYOL B SINIS - €€
= . - - TYANIWNYIAODYILNI - ZE
ANNZ AYYLIIYAOUd - 005
000'vb8'Z 606'ZrL'T 9EL'EE0'T v98'6v1'? 1E30L GNNd SLI3rOUd VLDV -00E
= 29’ (1] 61t INNIATY HIHLO0 - BE
= 958'9bZ £99°T0T 962'56T SLNIWISHNEWIZY 72 GILNOD - LE
= - u - SALIVAOY 78 SINIY - 9E
S 12165 BSL'L = IWOINI LNINLSIANL - SE
= S ESZ98 005°'LE SIUNLIAIHOS B SINK - €€
000'P¥8'T TVE'ZEV'T 06E'LES 6¥9'918T TYANIWNYIAODYILNI - ZE
QNNd S133roud TVLIdVI -00E
85289 Z8p'190'8 TBS'TLLL 68°'S89°L 18301 GNN4 INNIAIY TvI3dS - 002
- 66€ GST'E StT JNNIAIY YIHLO - §E
ooo‘or T9L'Sy ¥96'EC ES6'9Z SLN3WISHNBWIIY '8 BIYLNOD - LE
g T6R'TT 992'8 iv0's IWOINI LNIWLSIANI - SE
000'STS'T 896°951°7 1 d 0B6'8TEZ SIIIAYIS YO SIOUVHD - vE
000's1H0'T L6¥'S88'T 94z'92L'T 525'915°T S3UNLIFIYO4 8 SINIL - EE
T¥8'sTZE 196099 vST'ZES'E vr2'e1a’s T INIWNUIAQDHIALNI - ZE
anNNd INN3AIY TVII34S - 00T
000°00£'TTT SE6'6BE'TTIT 61T'L26'60T 918081 20T =301 ANNS TYE3N3D - 00T
ESP'96T E6V'TLS TLE'SLE 9/£'98p INNIATY HIHLO - BE
619'p12 761282 OSY'ETTT LT9'LST'T SLNIWIASYNEWIZY 8 QIYLNOD - LE
89E'8TL 620'896 E98'EZT'T T6E°£00T SALLIVAOY B SINIY - 9E
00T'00Z'tT T26'v88 SkL'TE0Z EIV'EVET IWOINI LNIWLSIANI - SE
LLT'EOL'T L't TBS'E6S'T 97L'89S'T SINAYIS YOS SIOUVHD - vE
000's28 98r'2L8 9L8'STTT TLELST'T 53YNLI3I¥04 '3 SANK - EE
£I8'TY6’T PLY'E60'T PES6IL'T B90'vFS'T IVINIWNYIAODYILNI - ZE
009'99¢'8 680'THL'8 T90'0vE'R 991'96£'8 SLIAY34 '8 SISNIDN - TE
OL8’EE6'96 £04'00E'S6 SST'E88'TE BEV'6TE'06 SIKVYL - O
AN YHINID - 00T
139an89 a3aLanvnn WNLY WALV INNOY
a3sodoud 910Z Ad STOT Ad YI0Z A4
SHOAVIN
LT0Z Ad
«+ST00, 12AT
139aN8 9350d04d L10T Ad
AHYININNS -~ NOLLDIIONA 139GN1A INNIAIY Wd 9E:% £102/9/€






